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INTRODUCTION


From naughty nuns to notorious murderers, poets to princes, Gay Pride to the Great Escape, Sussex has, or has had, just about everything. Here racy Brighton sits just along the coast from sedate Eastbourne, and the trains which carry the serious-suited commuters to the City once carried divorce-hunters to dodgy encounters in seedy seaside hotels. The green and tranquil spaces of the Sussex Downs National Park look down on the Channel, crossed by fugitives, invaders and adventurers down the centuries.


A contradictory and wayward county, Sussex has a life story both lyrical and downright dissolute. Open its closet just a little and out will come all manner of things. Okay, we’ll start with the naughty nuns.


The fifteenth century nuns of Easebourne Priory, near Midhurst, had a reputation for loose morals. The prioress gave birth to at least one child, and two other nuns absconded while pregnant. Let’s hope they also allowed themselves enough time to say the quantity of Hail Marys required to absolve their sinful behaviour.
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The Prince Regent built his own seaside palace here. The extravagant Brighton Pavilion was very handy for him: Maria Fitzherbert, who was his mistress and his secret wife, was just a few doors down in Steine House. When the Prince Regent, by then George IV, died, long after his official and deeply unhappy marriage to Caroline of Brunswick, the Duke of Wellington found a diamond locket around his neck, containing Maria’s picture.


Rudyard Kipling kept a visitors’ book at Bateman’s, the Burwash house where he lived for more than half his life. Next to several names appear the mysterious initials F.I.P. No, not a fellow of some august institution, simply a luckless visitor who ‘fell in pond’. Whether the creator of The Jungle Book and Kim cackled over their misfortune as he leafed through the book later, we don’t know.


Every year thousands of people parade though Brighton to celebrate Gay Pride. It’s a jaw-dropping, head-turning street party, with outrageous costumes, giant phalluses and probably the world’s largest display of size 11 stilettoes.


Beautiful and thrilling though it is, some people just couldn’t leave Sussex fast enough. The future Charles II fled in order to keep his head, while Lord ‘Lucky’ Lucan is thought to have disappeared off these shores too, after the murder of his family’s nanny in his Belgravia home in 1974. The debt-ridden aristocrat and gambler was last seen in Uckfield, where he spent the night with his friends the Maxwell-Scotts of Grants Hill House, and the car he was driving was later found abandoned in Newhaven.


Murkier still is the story of the acid bath murderer, John George Haigh, who kept his acid and drums at a workshop in Crawley. He was eventually hanged in 1949 after being found guilty at Lewes Assizes of six murders, though he always claimed there were three other victims. History says that while condemned he requested, but was not granted, a rehearsal of his execution to make sure everything went smoothly. Haigh was hanged at Wandsworth in London and one imagines that, even without a rehearsal, he was dispatched rather faster than many of the victims at Horsham Gaol, where murderers were sometimes pressed to death. The last such execution in the whole country is thought to have been at Horsham in 1735, when a 400lb weight was laid on the victim, topped up by the heft of the burly executioner.


Talking of heft, Sussex doesn’t have much of a culinary reputation, but it does have its own pudding. Make a suet crust, fill with a whole lemon, loads of butter and sugar and steam for hours, and you have a Sussex pond pudding – and probably narrowing of the arteries as well.


William the Conqueror arrived in England via the Sussex shore somewhere near Pevensey and altered the course of national history, but another aggressor/visitor we were expecting to drop in never made it. The Royal Military Canal, which runs from Kent to Pett, near Winchelsea, in East Sussex, was built in case of Napoleonic invasion, but Boney (probably horrified by the reputation of the Sussex pond pudding), stayed on his own side of the Channel. What military men didn’t use, however, smugglers for some while did – though these days the canal is an attractive addition to the landscape and an important habitat for wildlife.


To end where we began – with carryings-on of a sexual nature – Sussex is a hotspot for orchids, and if you know where to look (not that we’re allowed to tell you), you might spot on the Downs the fabulously promiscuous bee orchid. It looks just like a bee, flaunts itself shamelessly, attracting bees who think they’re mating with other bees, and thus gets most of the pollinating.


As we said, it all goes on in Sussex. Don’t be fooled by the pastoral charm of the Downs, or the whiter-than-white esplanades of the seafronts. This is a county full of stories. Now, read on . . .
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SUSSEX BY THE SEA


THAT SONG


William Ward-Higgs, who lived at South Bersted near Bognor, wrote the words and music of ‘Sussex by the Sea’ in 1907. The piece is a favourite with brass bands, and is played whenever and wherever a little Sussex patriotism is called for. Here’s one of the verses:


For we’re the men from Sussex


Sussex by the Sea,


We plough and sow and reap and mow,


And useful men are we:


And when you come to Sussex,


Whoever you may be,


You can tell them all that we’ll stand or fall


For Sussex by the Sea.


THE RESORT CRAZE


Until the late eighteenth century nobody much thought about having a good time at the seaside. Houses near the coast were often built facing inland, because there was nothing romantic about looking out towards the ocean. Once the fashion changed, though, people began to pour into Sussex and take dips in the briny and to parade along that uniquely English invention, the seaside pier. It was good for your health and it allowed the nobs to mix with other nobs to their social advantage.


George, the Prince Regent, famously gave an extra kick to Brighton’s promotion (and Brighton demands a separate chapter of its own), but movers and shakers all along the Sussex coast were soon developing resorts. Here are a few of them, from east to west.


The first ever guide to Hastings was published in 1794, and Marine Parade was begun three years later – indicating that the crowds were already arriving. The town was close enough to London to attract visitors from the fume-choked capital who wanted the salty sea breeze in their lungs. The population was just 3,175 in 1801, but this had grown to 17,621 fifty years later. Pelham Place and Crescent were built in the 1820s, and in 1834 the large White Rock which stuck out towards the sea at the western end of the front was destroyed so that a handsome promenade could be built towards St Leonards.


St Leonards itself became fashionable once the London builder James Burton (responsible for most of the terraces of Regent’s Park) set to work. He had a dream one night of creating a beautiful city by the sea, and he realised his dream in a narrow wooded valley immediately west of Hastings. Indeed, this was the country’s first purpose-built resort. Walk inland from his Royal Victoria Hotel and you can still enjoy much of what Burton created, including his assembly rooms (now the masonic hall), the gothic Clock House and the gardens of Quarry Hill. Burton’s own house, which he had transported by ship from London, can be seen on the front: no. 57 Marina. Burton’s son Decimus went on to complete the resort after his father died.
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The coming of the railway spurred coastal developments, and Bexhill began to grow in the 1840s, spreading down to the coast from the Old Town on its hill – although even in 1860 its population was only a little over 2,000. The De La Warr family got things going in the 1880s, building fine villas with Dutch gables on the seafront. In 1901 the town became the first in England to sanction mixed bathing, and a year later it was the first to organise motor racing trials. It slumbered somewhat after that, although in the De La Warr Pavilion, built in the 1930s, it has one of the architectural gems of the south coast.


Like Bexhill, Eastbourne had an Old Town a little way from the coast. The seaside development here was the work of two men – Carew Davies Gilbert, the lord of the manor from 1854 until 1913, and the 7th Duke of Devonshire, William Cavendish, who took the title in 1858 and thereby became one of the wealthiest men in England. From the 1860s they laid out a handsome new resort, with tree-lined boulevards, grassy squares and noble villas and hotels. The duke also insisted that the front itself should remain free of commercial interests, and the covenants he put in place have ensured that the promenade is largely free of them to this day. The impressive pier was completed in 1872.


The growth of Worthing can be said to have begun on 31 July 1798, when Princess Amelia, the youngest daughter of George III, arrived in the town for a holiday and touched it with a little royal magic. (The sad truth is that she had left London in disgrace, having been involved in a disapproved-of affair with one of her father’s equerries.) Amelia’s brother, the Prince of Wales, came to see her, and very soon the ‘Fashion’ in general followed suit and the next few decades were Worthing’s golden age.


Perhaps Littlehampton was always too far from the capital to become a thriving resort, but it had its own time as a fashionable watering-place after the Earl of Berkeley bought some land away from the commercial centre in 1790 and built himself Surrey House. Even by 1860 its population was only 2,436, but visitors could enjoy hot and cold baths, broad lawns and a prodigiously long esplanade.


Bognor was to have been called Hothampton, after its original developer, the London hatter Sir Richard Hotham, but, alas, the name never caught on. The hamlet Hotham decided to develop because of its fine sands was inhabited only by fishing and labouring families when he ‘discovered’ it in 1785. He poured money into making it a mini-Brighton, and several of his buildings still survive. Soon after he died in 1799 there was still only one small hotel, a few lodging houses and a dozen bathing machines, although a library and warm baths showed that it was doing its best to attract the upper classes. Even in the 1830s the population was only around 1,500, athough there were now five hotels, two libraries, the beginnings of a promenade and a coach service to London every day in the summer and three times a week throughout the winter. The ‘Regis’ suffix dates from much later – after George V spent several months nearby in 1929, while recuperating from a serious illness. Queen Victoria, who stayed here while still a young princess, described the place as ‘dear little Bognor’.


THE CINQUE PORTS


In early medieval times the country had no centralised navy, and monarchs had to rely on port towns to provide the ships and men they needed to defend the realm. They had to strike deals to bring this about, and they gave special favours to the so-called Cinque Ports of Sussex and Kent for their cooperation.


The ‘ship service’ the ports signed up to demanded, at one time, the supply of fifty-seven ships, each with a crew of twenty-one men and a boy, for fifteen days every year. They were used not only in warfare, but to transport the king, his entourage and his armies to and from Normandy and other parts of the Continent.


As the French name implies (although the word is always pronounced ‘sink’) there were five ‘head ports’ to begin with – Hastings being one, and Romney, Hythe, Dover and Sandwich round the corner in Kent being the others. The special rights these ports enjoyed included:


freedom from certain taxes and duties, and the right to levy their own


exemption from the jurisdiction of external courts


the right to hold their own courts and punish offenders


honours at court, including the right to carry the canopy over the head of the sovereign during the coronation procession


Several other towns were allied to the five as ‘limbs’, and Rye and Winchelsea were eventually elected full members of the Cinque Port Federation (so that it should, in reality, have become Sept).


The titular head of the Cinque Ports is the Lord Warden, a title which was increasingly sought-after by members of the nobility from the fourteenth century onwards. Among previous holders of the title have been Henry V and Henry VIII (before they were kings), the Duke of Wellington, Sir Winston Churchill and – the only woman to have held the office – Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother.


STRANDED PRIDE


During the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries the incoming sea inundated large areas of Sussex coastland and eventually completely washed away the prosperous trading port of Winchelsea – its remains as such lie under the sea somewhere off Camber Sands.


During the next couple of hundred years there was the opposite problem: the sea scoured shingle and sand from western beaches, depositing it further along the Channel until the mouths of the rivers became clogged and useless. Kipling, as usual, had a verse for it:


I will go out against the sun


Where the rollèd scarp retires,


And the Long Man of Wilmington


Looks naked toward the shires;


And east till doubling Rother crawls


To find the fickle tide,


By dry and sea-forgotten walls,


Our ports of stranded pride.


These include Rye, once a busy shipbuilding town as well as thriving port, but which by the end of the sixteenth century had suffered so much silting around the mouth of the Rother that the larger ships could no longer find a way in. Today the town is some 2 miles inland.


Winchelsea had been rebuilt on the higher ground on which it now stands, with a large church dominating a town arranged in a grid pattern, and wharves along the river banks and warehouses with impressive stone cellars to store Gascon wine and other imports. Its new-found prosperity didn’t last long. The river mouth silted here, too, and soon the trade dried up. Many of the inhabitants moved out, houses gradually collapsed and when the Methodist preacher John Wesley visited the town to preach in 1789, he found it nothing much more than a skeleton, with grass growing in the streets.


Pevensey Castle, first built by the Romans and then occupied by the Normans with a new wall inside, was originally almost surrounded by the sea, giving it an extra protection. The town had a Norman mint and became a chartered medieval borough, but once the sea retreated the town lost its importance: Pevensey Bay, with its modern development, is now a couple of miles away.


Further west, at Seaford, the port which once had supplied ships and men for the Cinque Ports fleet to protect the coast against French invaders was, by 1592, described as ‘decayed’. By that time, after decades of dredging the mouth of the River Ouse to clear the passageway for ships, the locals had finally given up. In 1539 an artificial cut had been made to create a ‘new haven’ by the coastal village of Meeching – and this duly became the port of Newhaven.


Further west still, boats had once come upriver from Shoreham as far as Bramber, the port of Steyning. The Normans built one of their castles there, and in medieval times a magnificent four-arched stone bridge lay close to St Mary’s, the beautiful old house which still stands there today. Again, the river narrowed and the trade was gone.


SUSSEX FISHERMEN


Fishing was once vital to the Sussex economy. When Daniel Defoe toured England in 1724 he reported large fleets fishing for herring and mackerel from Shoreham, Brighton and Rye, and noted that Hastings mackerel would be on sale in Tunbridge Wells within three hours of being landed.


In those days of plentiful supply and a lack of competition from overseas, local fishermen would catch mackerel in the summer (a single large boat could handle 100,000 at a time) and herring and cod later in the year. They would trawl for sole, plaice, brill and turbot, as well as harvest oysters, scallops and shellfish.


But the fishermen went further afield, too. Some would go west to Plymouth in January to meet the first shoals of mackerel swimming east along the Channel, and would follow them back to their home ports in the spring. In the autumn they would travel to the east coast of England to land herring for sale in Yarmouth and Lowestoft.


The Brighton fishermen had their own special kind of boat, the hog-boat or Hoggie, an example of which can be seen in the local museum. This was very broad, with a large foresail, a flat bottom so that it could be launched off the beach, and lee-boards to prevent a sideways drift.


Shoreham was known for its oysters, dredged from the middle of the Channel (at one time 20,000 tons a year were sent away by rail), but Littlehampton experienced a veritable boom when new beds were discovered south-east of the town. There would sometimes be as many as 300 boats off the coast, and when they sailed into the harbour they had to berth four-deep at every quay. Unfortunately over-fishing had killed the trade by the 1860s.


Hastings and Selsey are the only towns with considerable fishing fleets today. At Hastings you can see the picturesque ‘net shops’, traditionally used by the fishermen to store their equipment and dry their nets. The boats are winched up on the shingle of the Stade under the cliffs at Rock-a-Nore – an area which has been fiercely protected by the fishermen against all attempts to develop it.


TEN SUSSEX FISHERMEN’S SUPERSTITIONS


•Friday is unlucky. You would never start a new trip, or use a new net, on a Friday


•No boat must ever be painted green


•Never use the number 13 for a boat, or numbers which add up to 13


•Never wish a fishermen ‘good luck’ before he sails or he won’t set off


•Never utter the word ‘rabbits’ (‘Bexhill runners’ is an acceptable alternative)


•Don’t go fishing if you meet a nun on the way to your boat


•Never whistle on a boat or you’ll whistle up the wind


•Never use a white-handled knife at work


•Fishermen’s wives mustn’t wash their husbands’ clothes on a day they set off to sea


•A boat must never turn against the sun’s course, but always go ‘sunwise’ or clockwise


TEN SUSSEX SHIPWRECKS


In November 1747 the Nympha Americana was washed ashore in heavy winds and a snowstorm at Birling Gap. This 800-ton ship had been captured from the Spanish off Cadiz and was being brought to London with a rich cargo of quicksilver, velvets, clothes and gold and silver lace. Word quickly got about that she was in trouble, and hundreds of people poured onto the beach with the sole aim of plundering the goods. Disgraceful scenes followed. Casks of brandy were tossed onto the beach, and some were broken open by people who literally drank themselves to death – becoming insensible and perishing of cold where they lay. Some of the marauders climbed aboard the wreck and stripped valuables from the bodies of drowned sailors. Troopers were called out, and two of the crowd were shot dead.


A little more than a year later, in January 1749, another large ship foundered off the Sussex coast. She was the Dutch East Indiaman Amsterdam, on her maiden voyage from the Netherlands to Java with a cargo of silver, cloth and wine. She ran aground at Bulverhithe, near Hastings, with a mutineering crew on board. Fifty of them had already died from an unknown disease during the two weeks of the voyage and another forty were sick or dying. As the ship headed helplessly for the shore, some of the remaining crewmen broke open her store of wine and quaffed some literal Dutch courage before they landed. The wreck of the Amsterdam can still be seen at very low tides.


An impressive monument in Newhaven churchyard records the sinking of warship HMS Brazen in January 1800 with the loss of more than a hundred lives. She appeared off the coast with most of the crew already drowned, while others clung desperately to the rigging. The epitaph to the captain, James Hanson, reads that ‘it was the will of heaven to preserve him during four years voyage of danger and difficulty round the world on discoveries with Captn Vancouver in the year 1791 1792 1793 1794 but to take him from us when most he thought himself secure’.
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The remains of the wool clipper Coonatto lie on the seabed 2 miles west of Beachy Head. She was on her way from Australia to London with a cargo of copper ingots and wood in 1876 when she was driven ashore at Crowlink. She’s interesting to maritime historians because she was built at a time when the hull construction of large ships was being changed from wood to iron, and when engines were replacing sail – the Coonatto was both iron-framed and timber-framed, but she was still powered by sail.


There’s a romantic story connected with the running aground of the SS Gannet in Seaford Bay in February 1882. The crew were saved by a rocket apparatus and were lodged at the Bay Hotel in Pelham Road. A young woman who worked there helped an officer dry some of the ship’s papers – and ended up marrying him and returning with him to India. The cargo of tea, coffee, wheat, rice, cotton, indigo, linseed, hides and horn was successfully brought ashore, and some of it was stored for a time at a local farm. Security seems to have been lax, because we’re told that local grocers had little demand for their produce for some time. . . .


Corona nuts, imported for the manufacture of buttons, were the cargo of the SS Peruvian, which grounded off Seaford Head in February 1899. Many of them were washed up on the beach at Seaford, and local people took them home as souvenirs. Some were painted with shipwrecks and other scenes, and there’s a display of them in the local history museum.


In April 1906 the 6,700-ton German steamship Lugano was on her way from Baltimore to Hamburg when cotton in her cargo hold self-ignited off Hastings. She was towed by a tug into shallow water near the harbour, and the Hastings lifeboat Charles Arkcoll II was launched. The fire was out of control, and it burned for all of three days, but the ship somehow survived and was successfully towed away.


The same lifeboat made a difficult rescue two years later, when the London sail barge Amy got into trouble. Having struggled around Beachy Head in a westerly gale, she turned back towards St Leonards when she lost her topmast and bowsprit, dropping her anchor close to the shore. As the blizzard thickened the Charles Arkcoll II set out towards her, and the lifeboatmen climbed on board to find the skipper and his two crew in an exhausted state. They took the Amy to shelter on the east side of Dungeness, before – in wretchedly cold conditions – eventually bringing her to safety.


In 1912, the Titanic year, the P&O Liner Oceana collided with the four-masted German barque Pisagua off Beachy Head in dense fog, and nine of the crew lost their lives. The Pisagua, although badly damaged, was towed into harbour, but the Oceana sank, settling on the seabed with her masts and funnels still showing. She was carrying a cargo of gold and silver bullion, most of which was successfully salvaged.


Many locals will remember the arrival of the Athina B on the beach just east of Brighton’s Palace Pier in January 1980. A Greek cargo ship, she was carrying 3,000 tons of pumice when she failed to negotiate the entrance to Shoreham harbour and began to drift eastwards in worsening weather. After she ran aground at Brighton she was a tourist attraction for almost a month, with Volk’s Railway running an out-of-season service so that people could get a good view. With her pumice offloaded, she was eventually towed away to Chatham to be scrapped – but her anchor remains as a memento on the promenade.


THE MARY STANFORD DISASTER


Sussex lifeboatmen know that they risk their lives when they rush to the boathouse in answer to an emergency call, but the men who lost theirs off Rye on 15 November 1928, needn’t have gone out at all.


At 4.50 that morning the coastguards had been alerted that the Latvian steamer Alice was drifting in a dreadful storm some 3 miles south-west of Dungeness. The Rye Harbour lifeboat, the Mary Stanford, was launched with great difficulty in surging seas – and the conditions were so bad that the men never saw the Very lights fired to recall them only five minutes later. Unknown to them, the steamer’s crew had been rescued by another ship.


Six hours later, with the storm raging even more terribly, the lifeboat was approaching Rye harbour and home when it was overturned by a massive wave. Every single member of the crew – many in that small community related to one another – was drowned, their bodies later washed up on the beach one by one.


Their memorial in the churchyard has an epitaph achingly moving in its simplicity: ‘We have done that which was our duty to do’.


MILITARY DEFENCES


With its long coastline, Sussex has always been vulnerable to attacks from the sea, which is why so many fortifications have been built along the shore and the inland approaches over the centuries. These include the little brick ‘pillboxes’ thrown up along our rivers during the Second World War, to give us some last-ditch defending against an invading German army – getting rid of them hasn’t been worth anyone’s while.


We’ve already seen that the Normans occupied the castle at Pevensey first erected by their Roman predecessors. The fort eventually fell into decay, but it was on standby once again in 1588 as the Spanish Armada advanced up the Channel. A gun emplacement was created so that cannonballs could be fired on the enemy, and the mound can still be seen today.


Camber Castle, the only Sussex fortification built during the reign of Henry VIII, was designed to protect Rye bay. Unfortunately the swift aggregation of shingle we’ve noted earlier in this chapter meant that the castle was very soon too far away from the sea for a cannonball to reach invading ships. It was dismantled in 1642 and now lies a good mile away from the coast.


When there was a real threat of a Napoleonic invasion early in the nineteenth century a string of so-called Martello Towers was erected all the way from Essex and Kent into Sussex – the last in the chain being no. 74 at Seaford. This one is now a museum, as is the Wish Tower (no. 73) at Eastbourne, while one or two have been turned into unusual homes. Round and squat, the little towers were very difficult to destroy, which is why so many still remain.
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Three circular ‘redoubts’ were built to supplement the towers, and the largest of them was at Eastbourne. The massive brick structure is sunk below ground level, and comprises a ring of vaulted chambers, or casemates, around a circular courtyard. There was originally a moat around it, and it housed a garrison of 350 men with a platform for eleven guns.


Another relic of the Napoleonic period is the Royal Military Canal, which was excavated from under the cliffs at Pett, near Hastings, towards Shorncliffe in Kent. The coast is flat and exposed here, and the canal was designed to give the British army a second line of defence, as well as to allow the speedy transport of men and materials by water. Some people scoffed at it at the time, as it was less than 30ft wide, but it’s an attractive feature in the landscape today.

OEBPS/images/pg5_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg17_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
THE

LITTLE
BOOK

OF

SUSSEX

DAVID ARSCOTT






OEBPS/images/pg10_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg18_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg21_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/logo.jpg
The
History
Press





